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ROLAND K. JOHNSON 

DIRECT 817.870.8765 

DIRECT FAX 817.333.1199 

ROLANDJOHNSON@HFBLAW.COM 

July 12, 2022 
 
 
Via Email: dalcdcresponses@texasbar.com 
Mr. Kenneth W. Kirkland 
Office of the Chief Disciplinary Counsel 
The Princeton Building 
14651 Dallas Parkway, Suite 925 
Dallas, Texas 75254 
 

Re: 202202193 – Joseph Allen Maldonado-Passage – Francisco Hernandez, 
Jr. – Confidential Proceeding 

 
Dear Mr. Kirkland: 
 
 I represent Francisco Hernandez. Mr. Hernandez is Board Certified in 
Criminal Law by the Texas Board of Legal Specialization (since 2003) and has 
practiced in Tarrant County for over 32 years. Mr. Hernandez served as Chairman 
of the Texas Ethics Commission, appointed by Governor Rick Perry in 2001 and 
was elected Chairman in 2005. Former-Mayor Mike Moncrief appointed Mr. 
Hernandez to the Fort Worth Ethics Review Commission in 2010 where he served 
until 2014. Mr. Hernandez also served on the DFW International Airport Board of 
Directors from 2006 through 2015, serving as Chairman in 2011. Besides the above 
appointments, Mr. Hernandez has received numerous awards and recognition for his 
community involvement. 
 
 The grievance against Mr. Hernandez appears to have been submitted on 
behalf of Joseph Maldonado-Passage, a.k.a. the “Tiger King” from the Netflix 
documentary of the same name, by his purported power-of-attorney, Tamara 
Springer.1 Mr. Maldonado-Passage is incarcerated in federal prison after being 

 
1 Ms. Springer may rely on a document titled “North Carolina Power of Attorney,” 
dated December 1, 2021, purporting to give Ms. Springer power-of-attorney over 
Mr. Maldonado-Passage. [Ex. 1]. However, under North Carolina law, the power of 
attorney must be signed and acknowledged by the principal (Mr. Maldonado-
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convicted for a murder-for-hire attempt on a business rival, Carole Baskin, killing 
five tigers, selling tiger cubs, and falsifying wildlife records.  
 
 Mr. Hernandez was hired by Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s former power-of-
attorney, Anne Patrick,2 in April 2020 to assist with a motion to set aside Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage’s sentence and a pardon application to then-President Donald 
Trump. The grievance admits that Mr. Hernandez received no money from Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage. Mr. Hernandez ceased representing Mr. Maldonado-Passage 
in November 2021, shortly after Mr. Maldonado-Passage retained new counsel, John 
Phillips, to assist Brandon Sample, another attorney, with appealing Mr. Maldonado-
Passage’s conviction and civil lawsuits against various individuals. [See Exs. 13, 
16].   
 
 The information sheet submitted along with the grievance contains numerous 
inaccuracies and falsities: 
 

1. The grievance is purportedly filed by “Mr./Ms. Joseph 
Maldonado-Passage.” As explained above, it appears 
that the grievance was submitted by Ms. Springer since 
Mr. Maldonado-Passage is currently incarcerated. And, 
there is no “Ms. Maldonado-Passage.”—Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage is legally married to Mr. Dillon 

 
Passage). N.C. Gen. Stat. §32C-1-105 (West 2021). The principal’s signature is 
presumed to be genuine if the principal acknowledges the signature before a notary 
public. Id. Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s signature on the power of attorney is not 
properly acknowledged and therefore fails to give any authority to Ms. Springer. 
Additionally, the power of attorney does not authorize Ms. Springer to file this 
grievance against Mr. Hernandez. See id., at §32C-2-212 (list of “claims and 
litigation” under control of power-of-attorney does not include grievance 
proceedings).  
2 Ms. Patrick served as Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s power-of-attorney from some time 
in 2020 through November 2021. Upon information and belief, Ms. Patrick was 
removed as power of attorney around the same time Mr. Hernandez ceased 
representing Mr. Maldonado-Passage. [See Ex. 2].  
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Passage. Ms. Springer does not purport to have power-
of-attorney for Dillon Passage;3  
 

2. The contact information listed for Mr. Maldonado-
Passage, including address, phone number, and email 
address, is all for Ms. Springer; and  

 
3. Mr. Hernandez was hired in April 2020, not March 

2020, by Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s former power-of-
attorney, Anne Patrick, to work on Mr. Maldonado-
Passage’s post-conviction motion to set aside his 
sentence and his pardon application, not for the direct 
appeal of his conviction.4  

 
The narrative grievance also contains false statements about Mr. Hernandez’s 

representation of Mr. Maldonado-Passage, his interactions with Dillon Passage, and 
handling of Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s IOLTA account, each of which are addressed 
below. Additionally, the grievance asks the Chief Disciplinary Counsel to return Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage’s “car of $33,000 to cover the lien and the $10,000 in cash [Mr. 
Hernandez] hid in his law firm trust account.” The grievance system cannot provide 
this requested relief.5 

 
3 Mr. Maldonado-Passage filed for divorce from Dillon Passage in Santa Rosa 
County, Florida in March 2022.   
4 At Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s request and insistence, Mr. Brandon Sample handled 
the direct appeal briefing and all decisions concerning any briefing issues. Mr. John 
Phillips later took over that role, although both attorneys remain counsel of record 
for the direct appeal for all purposes. 
5 State Bar of Texas “File a Grievance” https://www.texasbar.com/Content/ 
NavigationMenu/ForThePublic/ProblemswithanAttorney/GrievanceEthicsInfo1/Fil
e_a_Grievance.htm (last visited June 8, 2022) (“The State Bar of Texas’ attorney 
grievance system cannot act as a liaison between you and the lawyer, nor can it 
award damages… [or] substitute for civil or criminal remedies.”). Additionally, Mr. 
Phillips has threatened litigation against Mr. Hernandez related to these same 
allegations.   

https://www.texasbar.com/Content/%20NavigationMenu/ForThePublic/ProblemswithanAttorney/GrievanceEthicsInfo1/File_a_Grievance.htm
https://www.texasbar.com/Content/%20NavigationMenu/ForThePublic/ProblemswithanAttorney/GrievanceEthicsInfo1/File_a_Grievance.htm
https://www.texasbar.com/Content/%20NavigationMenu/ForThePublic/ProblemswithanAttorney/GrievanceEthicsInfo1/File_a_Grievance.htm
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While representing Mr. Maldonado-Passage, Mr. Hernandez did not engage 
in self-dealing or self-promotion or mishandle IOLTA funds. The underlying facts 
and Mr. Hernandez’s responses to the specific complaints will show that Mr. 
Hernandez did not violate any Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct, 
and Mr. Hernandez’s actions do not support a determination of Just Cause as defined 
in the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure.  
 
I. Background  
 
 After Mr. Maldonado-Passage was convicted of murder-for-hire, killing and 
selling tigers, and falsifying wildlife records in January 2020, Mr. Maldonado-
Passage’s power-of-attorney, Anne Patrick worked to find an attorney to assist—for 
free—with Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s motion to set aside his sentence and a pardon 
application to then-President Donald Trump. Mr. Maldonado-Passage first sent Ms. 
Patrick the name of Eric Love, a self-described “Texas philanthropist and private 
investigator,”6 who first contacted Mr. Hernandez on behalf of Ms. Patrick. [Ex. 3, 
p. 1]. In April 2020, Mr. Hernandez agreed to help represent Mr. Maldonado-
Passage for free related to the motion to set aside his sentence and pardon 
application. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Hernandez set up an IOLTA account to handle 
funds on behalf of Mr. Maldonado-Passage. Frequently, Mr. Maldonado-Passage or 
Ms. Patrick would direct Mr. Hernandez to transfer money from the IOLTA to 
Dillon Passage (Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s current spouse) for living expenses, to 
Ms. Patrick to pay for bills and expenses, and other persons working on behalf of 
Mr. Maldonado-Passage.  
 
 Until January 2021, Mr. Hernandez worked tirelessly on Mr. Maldonado-
Passage’s campaign for a pardon, including writing the application itself, publicizing 
Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s wrongful conviction to the public, and communicating 
with President Trump’s advisors. Mr. Maldonado-Passage encouraged Mr. 
Hernandez and others working on the pardon to hold press conferences and increase 
the social media presence. On four occasions, Mr. Maldonado-Passage asked Mr. 
Hernandez to travel to Washington D.C. for press conferences, to deliver the pardon 
application, and attend pro-Trump rallies. [E.g., Ex. 4 (“Press, Press, Press, get on 

 
6 Eric Love’s Twitter profile: https://twitter.com/ericlovetexas?lang=en. 
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TV.”); Ex. 5 (“[Y]ou must ride this wave in the press.”); Ex. 6 (“[S]o if everyone is 
willing to fly to DC to put this on Thursday take my money to get the plane tickets… 
just a simple National Press Conference infront [sic] of the White House….”)]. 
Tellingly, on January 6, 2021, Mr. Maldonado-Passage emailed Mr. Hernandez 
saying: “Let everyone know that went to DC I said thanks, and I saw the plane on 
channel 11 with ya all [sic] and rink….” [Ex. 7].  
 

In 2020, Netflix and its production company, Goode Productions, began work 
on Tiger King 2, which focused, in part, on Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s efforts to get 
out of jail. On several occasions, Netflix and Goode Productions asked for Mr. 
Hernandez to sign a release to appear in Tiger King 2. [Exs. 8, 9]. Mr. Hernandez 
refused to sign the requested release due to his on-going representation of and loyalty 
to Mr. Maldonado-Passage. The below email evidences Mr. Hernandez’s refusal: “I 
wanted to let you know that I refused to sign the release….” [Ex. 10]. In response to 
Mr. Hernandez’s email, Mr. Maldonado-Passage encouraged Mr. Hernandez to “get 
your butt on tv and make a name for yourself, and if Rebecca7 wants to pay you take 
it Fran, Please, if your to [sic] proud to take it, take it and give it to EZ [nickname of 
Mr. Hernandez’s legal assistant] or donate it to the innocent [sic] project.” 
 

 
 
[Id.]. Contrary to the complaint, Mr. Maldonado-Passage wanted Mr. Hernandez to 
appear in Tiger King 2 and wanted Mr. Hernandez to get paid for his appearance. 
Mr. Hernandez did not represent Mr. Maldonado-Passage to “make a name” for 

 
7 “Rebecca” referenced in Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s email is Rebecca Chaiklin, a 
producer on Tiger King 2. 
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himself on television or make money—Mr. Hernandez declined both because Mr. 
Hernandez prioritized representing his client. [Ex. 10].   
 
 In January 2021, after President Trump did not pardon Mr. Maldonado-
Passage, Mr. Maldonado-Passage engaged John Phillips, an attorney based in 
Florida, to take over for attorney Brandon Sample, handling the appeal of his 
conviction, plus a variety of other matters. Unlike Mr. Hernandez, Mr. Phillips was 
compensated for his representation of Mr. Maldonado-Passage and contracted for 
half of the royalties from Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s tell-all memoir, released in 
November 2021.8 [See Exs. 12, 16]. Admittedly, Mr. Hernandez and Mr. Phillips 
frequently butted heads related to the defense strategy and differences in approach 
to the media. For example, contrary to Mr. Hernandez, Mr. Phillips signed a release 
to appear in Tiger King 2.9 [Ex. 13]. Mr. Hernandez and Mr. Phillips also disagreed 
about Mr. Phillips’s simultaneous representation of Mr. Maldonado-Passage and Jeff 
Lowe,10 who actively conflicted with Mr. Maldonado-Passage over trademark 
issues. [Ex. 14]. Mr. Hernandez voiced his concerns about Mr. Phillips’s conflicts 
of interest to Mr. Maldonado-Passage on several occasions, which soured Mr. 
Hernandez’s relationship with Mr. Phillips and ultimately Mr. Maldonado-Passage. 
As stated above, Mr. Phillips still represents Mr. Maldonado-Passage.  
 
 During the first couple years of Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s time in prison, Mr. 
Hernandez managed Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s money through an IOLTA. Funds 
were deposited into the account from promotional deals, including for the Tiger King 

 
8 Since Mr. Maldonado-Passage was paying Mr. Phillips, Mr. Maldonado-Passage 
expected Mr. Phillips to do the heavy lifting on the criminal and civil matters. [See 
Exs. 15, 16].  
9 On Mr. Phillips’s website, he advertises that “lawyers at our office and our cases 
have appeared in 100’s of media outlets including regional, national, and 
international television, radio, magazines, newspapers and more.” Phillips & Hunt, 
https://floridajustice.com/ (last visited June 8, 2022).  
10 Upon information and belief, Jeff Lowe helped the government convict Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage for murder-for-hire.  

https://floridajustice.com/
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2 documentary, Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s book deal, and music royalties,11 as well 
as donations from fans. Mr. Maldonado-Passage12 and his former power-of-attorney 
Anne Patrick directed withdrawals from the account, in part, to pay for living 
expenses for Dillon Passage and Anne Patrick and for expenses to maintain the 
“Tiger King” brand. Unbeknownst to Mr. Hernandez, some payments that Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage directed Mr. Hernandez to make were cloaked payments for 
drug transactions in the prison. Indeed, Mr. Maldonado-Passage would lie to Mr. 
Hernandez, referring to the payments as expenses for tiger food, among other 
descriptions: 
 

 
 
[Ex. 21]. Mr. Hernandez only learned of the true nature of these payments in 
September 2021, when Mr. Maldonado-Passage was caught in prison with a burner 
phone and admitted the practice to Mr. Hernandez. Of course, Mr. Hernandez told 
Mr. Maldonado-Passage to cease facilitating the drug payments and told the situation 
to Mr. Phillips, Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s other attorney.13 Mr. Maldonado-Passage 
was angry with Mr. Hernandez over the confrontation and disclosure to Mr. Phillips, 
and Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s relationship with Mr. Hernandez continued to sour 
until Mr. Hernandez ceased representing Mr. Maldonado-Passage in November 
2021.  
 

 
11 Bradley Small, who represented Mr. Maldonado-Passage related to licensing 
deals, confirmed that Mr. Hernandez “did not make any entertainment/licensing 
deals, nor did he take any monies from [Mr. Maldonado-Passage] as payment.” [Ex. 
46].  
12 There are a substantial number of emails from Mr. Maldonado-Passage (from jail) 
to Mr. Hernandez directing Mr. Hernandez to use funds from the IOLTA account 
for various expenses. [E.g., Exs. 17, 18, 19, 20]. 
13 Mr. Hernandez also advised Ms. Patrick and Ms. Springer to cease participating 
in any more cloaked transactions and to keep all proof of the financial activity. Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage was to be re-sentenced, and Mr. Hernandez feared this activity 
would enhance Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s sentence.  
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 In March 2022, Mr. Maldonado-Passage filed for divorce from Dillon Passage 
in Florida, which is still pending.14 In the divorce proceeding, it is believed, based 
on the filings, that a main issue will be the amount of financial support Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage provided to Dillon Passage during the marriage and Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage’s alleged personal property that Dillon Passage disposed of, 
including the Dodge Challenger15 and revolver. Many of the complaints involving 
Mr. Hernandez will be litigated in the divorce proceeding, likely over the next 
several years.  
 
 Mr. Hernandez will now respond to each complaint in detail to show he did 
not violate any Texas Disciplinary Rule of Professional Conduct.  
 
II. Responses to Complaints 
 
 The complaint focuses on four issues: (A) alleged transactions with Dillon 
Passage, including the purchase of a Dodge Challenger and revolver; (B) promotion 
efforts; (C) funds in Mr. Hernandez’s IOLTA account; and (D) outsourcing legal 
work to other attorneys. The complaint does not identify the Texas Disciplinary 
Rules of Professional Conduct that Mr. Hernandez allegedly violated. However, it 
seems like the complaint may attempt to allege violations under Disciplinary Rules 
of Professional Conduct 1.04, 1.08, and 1.14. Mr. Hernandez’s responses show he 
did not violate any Disciplinary Rule, and his actions do not support a finding of Just 
Cause.  
 
 
 
 

 
14 Maldonado-Passage v. Passage, Case No. 572022DR000525DRAXMX, Santa 
Rosa County, First Judicial Circuit of Florida. Dillon Passage has filed a motion to 
dismiss the divorce proceeding for lack of subject matter jurisdiction because neither 
party lives in Florida.  
15 As explained in further detail below, the Dodge Challenger was a gift from Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage to Dillon Passage for his 25th birthday and was therefore not 
marital property. Infra, at 11.  
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A. Dealings with Dillon Passage 
 
 The complaint alleges that Mr. Hernandez and “his friend Eric Love signed 
contracts with my ex-husband [Dillon Passage] making product deals, book deals, 
and hiding money in his law office trust account, sending my ex-husband thousands 
of dollars and loaning him $13,000 more and repaying himself out of more product 
deals.” The complaint also states that Mr. Hernandez purchased a car and a revolver 
from Dillon Passage. As shown below, (1) Jeff Hoover, another attorney 
representing Mr. Maldonado-Passage, not Mr. Hernandez purchased the revolver 
from Dillon Passage; (2) Mr. Hernandez purchased a car Dillon Passage owned and 
marketed for sale to others; (3) Mr. Hernandez did not sign any contracts with Dillon 
Passage; and (4) any payments made to Dillon Passage from Mr. Maldonado-
Passage’s IOLTA were authorized by Mr. Maldonado-Passage or his power-of-
attorney. Any complaint about Mr. Hernandez relating to Dillon Passage is solely 
based on Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s contempt for Dillon Passage, which is being 
litigated in their divorce proceedings.  
 
 Mr. Hernandez did not violate any Disciplinary Rule, and his actions do not 
support a finding of Just Cause related to Mr. Hernandez’s dealings with Dillon 
Passage.  
 

1. Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s gun was sold to Jeff Hoover, not 
Mr. Hernandez. 

 
The complaint alleges that Mr. Hernandez “bought [Mr. Maldonado-

Passage’s] S&W 357 revolver and custom holster from [Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s] 
ex-husband [Dillon Passage] for $1,500, when it was worth $25,000.” Mr. 
Hernandez did not purchase, and does not possess, the revolver and holster. [Ex. 22].  

 
When Mr. Maldonado-Passage went to prison, Dillon Passage possessed Mr. 

Maldonado-Passage’s personal property, including the revolver and the holster. In 
2020, Mr. Maldonado-Passage sold the revolver and holster to a fan named Mike for 
$700. Mike paid the $700, but Dillon Passage refused to deliver the revolver and 
holster to Mike. Soon thereafter, Mike passed away and Dillon Passage maintained 
possession of the revolver and holster. [Ex. 23]. Prior to 2021, Dillon Passage held 
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an online auction of Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s personal property, including the 
revolver. However, there were no bids on the revolver. 

 
Because the revolver did not sell and as a “thank you” for all the work 

performed on his behalf, Mr. Maldonado-Passage and Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s 
power-of-attorney, Anne Patrick, wanted to gift the revolver and holster to Jeff 
Hoover, another attorney representing Mr. Maldonado-Passage. [Ex. 24]. Mr. 
Hoover did not want a gift from Mr. Maldonado-Passage and insisted on paying 
$1,500 for the revolver and an extra $500 for the holster. [Id.]. Mr. Maldonado-
Passage and Ms. Patrick knew that Mr. Hoover purchased the revolver and were 
pleased Dillon Passage was no longer in possession of it:  

 

 
 

[Ex. 25]. 
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[Ex. 24); Ex. 26 (“[T]hank God you [sic] bought my gun or [Dillon Passage] would 
have sold it also.”)].  
 
 Mr. Hernandez did not violate any Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional 
Conduct related to the revolver and holster.  
 

2. Mr. Maldonado-Passage gifted the car to Dillon Passage.  
 
Mr. Hernandez did not violate any Texas Disciplinary Rule of Professional 

Conduct related to the used Dodge Challenger. The complaint alleges: 
 

[Mr. Maldonado-Passage] had bought my husband at the 
time a Dodge Challenger for $33,000 and had a lien on it 
for the full amount. In November of 2021, [Mr. 
Hernandez] came to the prison and had me sign the lien so 
he could put it in my name and scammed me out of my 
car, as he bought it for $15,000, which is ½ of the lien I 
had. So he paid my ex-husband for the car… Then in 
November of 2021, right before Tiger King 2 came out, 
[Mr. Hernandez] wrapped the car with my trademark and 
took it around Dallas, Fort Worth to only benefit himself.  

 
As the complaint admits, while in prison, Mr. Maldonado-Passage gifted 

Dillon Passage a used Dodge Challenger for his 25th birthday. [Ex. 27 (“[T]he car 
[Dillon] has now was paid in full for a birthday present last year.”)]. Mr. Maldonado-
Passage titled the car solely in Dillon’s name. [Ex. 32]. Since Dillon Passage was 
irresponsible and had issues with driving while intoxicated, Mr. Hernandez 
suggested that Mr. Maldonado-Passage place a lien on the car, so, if necessary, Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage could get the car out of the auto pound without Dillon Passage’s 
authorization (who held record title). [Exs. 28; 32]. The lien on the car proved useful 
on at least one occasion when the car was impounded after Dillon Passage was 
arrested for driving while intoxicated. [Ex. 29]. 
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In fall 2021, Dillon Passage and Mr. Maldonado-Passage decided to get a 
divorce, and Dillon Passage planned to market the car to sell it to a third party.16 
With Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s knowledge and consent,17 Mr. Hernandez offered to 
give Dillon Passage a $15,000 loan with the car as collateral—Dillon could pay Mr. 
Hernandez back by the end of 2021 to get the car back or keep the money. [Ex. 3]. 
Dillon Passage accepted this deal and delivered the car to Mr. Hernandez in 
September 2021. Mr. Maldonado-Passage knew about Mr. Hernandez’s 
arrangement with Dillon Passage and did not object. [Ex. 30]. For example, Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage knew that Mr. Hernandez spent approximately $3,000 of Mr. 
Hernandez’s own money to wrap the car with the “Tiger King” logo to publicize Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage’s upcoming book,18 and Mr. Maldonado-Passage weighed in on 
the wrap design. [Ex. 34, pp. 2, 4; Ex. 35]. Anne Patrick, as Mr. Maldonado-
Passage’s power-of-attorney, also approved Mr. Hernandez’s arrangement with 
Dillon Passage. [Ex. 3]. 

 
In October 2021, Dillon Passage decided that he wanted to keep the loaned 

money and transferred the car’s title to Mr. Hernandez. And, Mr. Maldonado-
Passage signed paperwork releasing the lien on the car, allowing Mr. Hernandez to 
own the car outright. [Ex. 33]. Later, Mr. Maldonado-Passage decided that he 
wanted to purchase the car back from Mr. Hernandez and allow his new boyfriend, 
Seth, or Ms. Patrick drive the car. [Ex. 30; Ex. 34, p. 2]. Mr. Hernandez told Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage he could purchase the car for what Mr. Hernandez had in the 

 
16 Upon information and belief, Dillon Passage intended to forge Mr. Maldonado-
Passage’s signature to release the lien to sell the car to a third party.  
17 By this time, Mr. Maldonado-Passage had spent the money in his IOLTA. Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage instructed his team, including Mr. Hernandez to market and 
support Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s upcoming memoir, which was to be a source of 
future income for Mr. Maldonado-Passage. Mr. Maldonado-Passage indicated that 
the car was a good marketing opportunity for the book. [Ex. 3]. 
18 Both Mr. Maldonado-Passage and Mr. Phillips received advance payments from 
the book contract and financially benefitted from any publicity for the book. [Exs. 
3, 12, 16]. Mr. Hernandez did not financially benefit from Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s 
book. To the contrary, Mr. Hernandez, spent his own funds on the promotional 
materials and expenses for the book. 



Mr. Kenneth W. Kirkland   
July 12, 2022 
Page 13 
 
 

1220360.4 

car, approximately $30,000.19 Ultimately, Mr. Maldonado-Passage did not have 
enough money and did not purchase the car.  

 
Contrary to the complaint, Mr. Maldonado-Passage only spent approximately 

$25,000 to purchase the car. [Ex. 36]. In fall 2021, Mr. Maldonado-Passage 
acknowledged that the car was only worth between $15,000 - $18,000 and that 
Dillon Passage—the owner of the car—needed to be paid for it. [Ex. 30]. Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage’s lien, which he willingly released, was not worth $33,000.  

 
Mr. Hernandez did not engage in a business transaction with Mr. Maldonado 

Passage. Mr. Maldonado-Passage gifted the car to Dillon Passage, making the car 
Dillon Passage’s separate property.20 Texas Disciplinary Rule of Professional 
Conduct 1.08 prohibits client transactions and expressly does not apply to 
“commercial transactions…that the client generally markets to others.” Tex. 
Disciplinary Rules Prof’l Conduct 1.08(a), (j). Mr. Hernandez did not represent 
Dillon Passage, and Dillon Passage generally marketed the car for sale to others 
before Mr. Hernandez bought it. Mr. Hernandez did not violate any Texas 
Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct related to the car.    

 
3. Mr. Hernandez did not sign contracts with Dillon Passage.  

 
The complaint alleges that Mr. Hernandez “and his friend Eric Love signed 

contracts with [Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s] ex-husband making product deals, book 
deals, and hiding the money in his law office trust account.” However, there are 
many falsities in that statement.  

 
First, although Mr. Maldonado-Passage has filed for divorce, he is still legally 

married to Dillon Passage. As mentioned above, the on-going dispute between Mr. 

 
19 Using his own money, Mr. Hernandez paid the $15,000 purchase price, 
approximately $3,000 to wrap the car, maintenance for the car, and the car’s 
insurance. [Ex. 35].   
20 Again, if there is a dispute as to whether the car was community property or Dillon 
Passage’s separate property, that issue will be resolved in Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s 
divorce proceeding, which is still pending.  
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Maldonado-Passage and Dillon Passage related to the financial support given to 
Dillon Passage during the marriage and the division of any community property is 
believed to be at the forefront of the divorce proceedings.  

 
Second, Mr. Hernandez did not execute any contracts, product deals, or book 

deals with Dillon Passage. [See Ex. 46]. The complaint is confusing as Mr. 
Hernandez is a criminal defense attorney and is not a book publisher or a seller 
goods. Mr. Love did not execute any contracts with Dillon Passage either. And, in a 
text message to Mr. Hernandez, Mr. Maldonado-Passage admitted that “no contracts 
are in [Dillon Passage’s] name and [Mr. Hernandez] have [sic] records of [Dillon’s] 
payments.” [Ex. 25].   

 
Third, Mr. Hernandez did not hide any money in his IOLTA for Mr. 

Maldonado-Passage. Throughout Mr. Hernandez’s representation of Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage, Mr. Hernandez provided information and updates about the 
money deposited into and withdrawn from the IOLTA. [E.g., Ex. 37 (Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage: “hey, can you tell me what is in escrow” Mr. Hernandez: 
“about 50.”); Ex. 24 (“there is about 4500 in the account)]. And, in January 2022, 
Mr. Hernandez provided Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s attorney, John Phillips, with a 
detailed ledger of the money deposited into and withdrawn from the IOLTA, which 
is supported by approximately 500 pages of documentation.21 [Ex. 38].  

 
Mr. Hernandez did not violate any Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional 

Conduct related to alleged contracts with Dillon Passage.  
 
B. Mr. Maldonado-Passage routinely authorized support 

payments to Dillon Passage. 
 

 The complaint alleges that Mr. Hernandez “sen[t] my ex-husband thousands 
of dollars and loan[ed] him $13,000 more and repaying himself out of more product 
deals.” While Mr. Maldonado-Passage was in prison, he continued to financially 
support Dillon Passage. Mr. Maldonado-Passage and Ms. Patrick (former power-of-

 
21 If helpful, Mr. Hernandez can produce the approximately 500 pages of supporting 
documentation.  
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attorney) frequently instructed Mr. Hernandez to send Dillon Passage money for 
rent, food, utilities, and miscellaneous expenses. [E.g., Ex. 39 (rent payments); Ex. 
40 (miscellaneous expenses); Ex. 18 (“Dillon is to always get 1500.00 on the 13th of 
each month….); Ex. 37 (“and don’t forget Dillon on the 24th 3000.00 in case I am 
out of touch for any reason.”); Ex. 19 (“Fran has been asked to take the money from 
escrow and get your car tags which is around 2600.00”)]. Moreover, Mr. Hernandez 
never loaned Dillon Passage $13,000.  
 
 Mr. Maldonado-Passage was frustrated with how reckless Dillon Passage was 
with Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s money. For example, Mr. Maldonado-Passage 
complained to Mr. Hernandez and Ms. Patrick that Dillon Passage: 
 

was supose [sic] to get 500 to get storage and gas money 
to go to Texas and 700.00 for insurance and money to live 
on at his sisters until we figure out something on this house 
deal. He is not paying rent right now and he is not paying 
a car payment, he goes and gets a 100.00 tattoo and buys 
his female friend a 200.00 make up mirror and then goes 
to atlanta [sic] for his manager and I have to pay that bill 
too.  

 
[Ex. 41]. These issues will be properly addressed in Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s 
divorce proceedings.  
 
 Any financial support provided to Dillon Passage out of Mr. Maldonado-
Passage’s IOLTA was requested and authorized by either Mr. Maldonado-Passage 
or Ms. Patrick. Mr. Hernandez did not violate any Texas Disciplinary Rule of 
Professional Conduct related to financial support payments for Dillon Passage.  
 

B. Mr. Maldonado-Passage did not have $10,000 remaining in his 
IOLTA account. 

 
 The complaint alleges that “[u]pon firing [Mr. Hernandez], there was over 
$10,000 in the trust account as he told me there was in November and when I asked 
for it, he produced bills where he cooked the books….” Mr. Hernandez did not 
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inform Mr. Maldonado-Passage that there was $10,000 left in the IOLTA in 
November 2021. Contrary to the complaint, at the end of Mr. Hernandez’s 
representation, Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s IOLTA was overdrawn by almost 
$15,000, consisting of a payment to Mr. Phillips, Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s new 
attorney, and payments to Ms. Patrick and Ms. Springer. [Ex. 38]. Mr. Hernandez 
paid for these expenses out of his own pocket and does not seek repayment by Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage. Tex. Disciplinary Rules Prof’l Conduct 1.08 (d)(1) (“a lawyer 
may advance or guarantee court costs, expenses of litigation or administrative 
proceedings, and reasonably necessary medical and living expenses, the repayment 
of which may be contingent on the outcome of the matter.”).   
 

Tamara Springer, Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s alleged power-of-attorney and 
likely the person who submitted this complaint, emailed me (Roland Johnson) in 
February 2022 asking for the “status of the $9,000 in his trust fund that [Mr. 
Hernandez] has not yet turned over to [Ms. Springer].” [Ex. 42]. As detailed above, 
Mr. Phillips was provided a ledger in January 2022, showing that there was no 
money left in the IOLTA. From February 2022 until the complaint in April 2022, 
the “amount remaining” in the IOLTA claimed by Ms. Springer inexplicably grew 
from $9,000 to $10,000 without any documentation whatsoever. Ms. Springer’s 
inconsistencies show that she has no basis to claim there is money remaining in the 
IOLTA. Indeed, the complaint appears to be an effort to generate some much-needed 
cash.22  

 
Mr. Hernandez did not violate any Texas Disciplinary Rule of Professional 

Conduct related to the allegation that $10,000 remain in Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s 
IOLTA.  
 

C. Mr. Hernandez did not engage in self-dealing or self-promotion.  
 
 The complaint claims Mr. Hernandez: 
 

took it upon himself to rent a large bus and wrap it with 
my image and take it to Washington, D.C. to make a movie 

 
22 Again, the State Bar grievance system cannot award damages.  
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for Tiger King 2 without my knowledge, then big limos, 
private jets, all to film with Tiger King 2. …Then in 
November 2021, [Mr. Hernandez] wrapped the car with 
my trademark and took it around Dallas, Fort Worth to 
only benefit himself. 

 
As seen above, on numerous occasions Mr. Maldonado-Passage instructed Mr. 
Hernandez and others to create publicity for Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s pardon 
application and efforts to get out of jail. Supra, at 4-5. Mr. Maldonado-Passage knew 
about, and approved, the trips to Washington D.C. and the car wrap. [E.g., Exs. 3, 6, 
7, 34]. Mr. Maldonado-Passage did not pay for the large bus, limos, private jets, or 
the car wrap.   
 

Specifically, Mr. Hernandez and other representatives of Mr. Maldonado-
Passage, including Eric Love and Jeff Hoover, went to Washington D.C. on a few 
occasions to generate support and publicity for Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s pardon 
application. For the first trip, Eric Love—using his own money—obtained the use 
of a large bus to drive to Washington D.C. with some of Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s 
supporters. [Ex. 3]. Mr. Maldonado-Passage also authorized using his money in the 
IOLTA for plane tickets for Anne Patrick to join Mr. Love in Washington D.C. [Ex. 
6]. Mr. Hernandez, at Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s insistence, also traveled to 
Washington D.C. with Anne Patrick and Dillon Passage for a press conference: 
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[Id.].  
 

Mr. Hernandez also traveled to Washington D.C. on January 6, 2021, to attend 
(what they thought) was simply a pro-Trump rally, to encourage President Trump to 
sign the pardon for Mr. Maldonado-Passage. Mr. Hernandez’s friend offered to loan 
Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s team his private jet to fly to Washington D.C., if Mr. 
Hernandez would cover the cost of gas and landing fees, which Mr. Hernandez and 
Mr. Hoover did. [Ex. 31]. Again, Mr. Maldonado-Passage knew about this trip and 
helped organize it:  

 

  
 
[Ex. 43].  
 
 Regarding Mr. Hernandez’s participation in Tiger King 2, Mr. Maldonado-
Passage knows that Mr. Hernandez refused, repeatedly, to sign a release with the 
production company to appear in Tiger King 2. [Ex. 10 (“I want to let you know that 
I refused to sign the release they want me to sign and the members of the team. They 
have not offered nor do we want any compensation for it. But they keep insisting.”)]. 
Mr. Maldonado-Passage acknowledged to the documentary producers that Mr. 
Hernandez and Mr. Hoover have “not nor will they sign anything giving you 
permission to use what you filmed with them.” [Ex. 13]. However, Mr. Maldonado-
Passage also encouraged Mr. Hernandez to “get [his] butt on tv and make a name 
for [himself].” [Ex. 10].  
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 Ultimately, in March 2021, Mr. Maldonado-Passage needed money for a 
house payment and instructed Mr. Hernandez to authorize the production company 
to use footage of Mr. Hernandez related to the pardon application in exchange for 
depositing $15,500 into Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s IOLTA.23 [Ex. 11]. Mr. 
Hernandez was not paid to appear in Tiger King 2: 
 

 
 
[Ex. 11]. Mr. Maldonado-Passage wanted Mr. Hernandez to appear in Tiger King 2 
exclusively for Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s financial benefit.  
 
 As previously stated, Mr. Hernandez did not use any of Mr. Maldonado-
Passage’s money to wrap Dillon Passage’s car with the Tiger King book logo. Supra, 
at 12-13. Again, Mr. Maldonado-Passage knew about the car wrap and weighed in 
on the design. [Id.]. Mr. Hernandez spent his own money to wrap the car to publicize 
Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s upcoming book, which Mr. Maldonado-Passage hoped to 
generate much-needed money. [Id.]. Mr. Hernandez had no financial interest in the 
book and did not benefit from wrapping the car.  

 
23 In the end, Goode Productions never made the proposed $15,000.00 payment to 
Mr. Maldonado-Passage because Mr. Hernandez continued to refuse to sign the 
Personal Release. 
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 Mr. Hernandez did not engage in self-dealing or self-promotion related to the 
trips to Washington D.C., appearing in Tiger King 2, or wrapping the car. Mr. 
Hernandez did not violate any Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct.  
 

D. Mr. Maldonado-Passage knew about and authorized outsourcing 
of legal work.  

 
Contrary to the complaint, Mr. Maldonado-Passage knew about and 

authorized Mr. Hernandez to engage other lawyers to assist with the motion to set 
aside Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s sentence, a mandamus, and other motions and 
research. In July 2020, Mr. Hernandez recounted to Mr. Maldonado-Passage some 
of the attorneys who were working on Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s behalf: 

 
Elliot Crawford in Oklahoma, Jim Zadeh, Sophia Maas, 
all worked on [a Motion and Petition in Intervention] and 
did a great job…. William Taylor is the Federal Court 
super lawyer. He ONLY works for lawyers. He is a good 
friend and is absolutely brilliant. I’m just letting you know 
some of the names of the folks working for you…. Phillip 
Hall, my associate, working on the Pardon with Victoria 
at Brandon’s office. Jeff Hoover, my best friend since 
1984, co counsel and keeps track of your file. Jeff paid all 
the expenses for the Bus and Trump Hotel for the 
Washington DC trip. 

 
[Ex. 44]. To which Mr. Maldonado-Passage replied: 
 

I cannot thank you enough and you really don’t know me 
yet but you will see I am a guy that will never forget what 
you have done for me, you get me out of here and life will 
be great for all of you, I will make sure that happens…. 

 
[Id.].  
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 Another time, Mr. Hernandez told Mr. Maldonado-Passage to review legal 
research performed by William Taylor: 
 

if you still have the research that my friend William Taylor 
did, take a look at it again and tell me what you think. He 
put a lot of work into that. if you no longer have it, I will 
send again.  

 
[Ex. 45]. In response, Mr. Maldonado-Passage acknowledged that other attorneys 
were performing work on his behalf, writing: “I sent that paperwork back to you I 
think that your friend did.” [Id.].  
 
 Mr. Maldonado-Passage knew, and approved, that Mr. Hernandez outsourced 
legal research and writing to other attorneys. Mr. Hernandez did not violate any 
Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct related to the outsourcing of legal 
work to other attorneys.  
 
III. Conclusion 
 
 Mr. Hernandez acted in the best interests of his client, Mr. Maldonado-
Passage. Mr. Hernandez did not self-deal or self-publicize and did not engage in 
improper transactions with Mr. Maldonado-Passage. Mr. Hernandez did not 
purchase Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s revolver, and Mr. Hernandez purchased the car 
from Dillon Passage, Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s husband, who owned the car. Any 
dispute about the proper owner of the revolver and the car should occur in Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage and Dillon Passage’s divorce proceeding. Additionally, Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage or his former power-of-attorney, Anne Patrick, authorized 
withdrawals from Mr. Maldonado-Passage’s IOLTA. No money remains in the 
IOLTA to distribute.  
 
 Mr. Hernandez requests that you find there is no Just Cause to believe 
professional misconduct occurred. Mr. Hernandez requests that you refer this 
complaint to the Summary Disposition Panel in Tarrant County for dismissal. If this 
matter proceeds, Mr. Hernandez requests that any proceedings occur in Tarrant 
County.  
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 To comply with Rule 2.10 of the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure, 
which requires a copy of Mr. Hernandez’s response to be sent directly to the 
Complainant, I have sent a copy of this response to the email address provided in the 
Complaint (joeexoticusa@yahoo.com). However, upon information and belief, Mr. 
Maldonado-Passage may not have access to that email address. Please let me know 
if I need to forward Mr. Hernandez’s response to Mr. Maldonado-Passage in another 
manner.    
 
 Thank you for reading Mr. Hernandez’s response and your service to our 
citizens and the Bar. Mr. Hernandez respectfully reserves the right to provide 
additional information in the resolution of this Complaint. Please let me know if you 
have specific questions.   
 
      Sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
      Roland K. Johnson 
 
RKJ/cmc 
 
cc: Ms. Tamara Springer 

mailto:joeexoticusa@yahoo.com
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Appendix in Support of Francisco Hernandez’s Response to Complaint  
 
Exhibit No. Description 

1 Purported North Carolina Power of Attorney designating Tamara 
R. Springer as power-of-attorney for Joseph Maldonado-Passage 

2 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 
dated February 10, 2021, regarding Anne Patrick as power-of-
attorney 

3 Statement by Anne Patrick 
4 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 

dated October 9, 2020, encouraging attorneys to get in the press 
5 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 

dated October 9, 2020, regarding opportunity for press 
6 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 

dated December 13, 2020, asking team to travel to Washington 
D.C. for national press conference 

7 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 
dated January 6, 2021, thanking team for traveling to Washington 
D.C. for rally  

8 Emails between Francisco Hernandez and Jeremy Bride, Leif 
Cervantes de Reinstein, and Kelsey Pfleger, dated October 2020, 
regarding release to appear in Tiger King 2 

9 Email from Francisco Hernandez to Joseph Maldonado-Passage, 
dated March 23, 2021, regarding email from Francisco Hernandez 
to Kelsey Pfleger about release to appear in Tiger King 2 

10 Emails between Francisco Hernandez and Joseph Maldonado-
Passage, dated October 12, 2020, regarding Francisco Hernandez 
appearing in Tiger King 2 

11 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 
dated March 13, 2021, encouraging Francisco Hernandez to sign a 
release to appear in Tiger King 2 in exchange for $15,500 paid to 
Joseph Maldonado-Passage 

12 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 
dated February 25, 2021, regarding John Phillips being paid out of 
Joseph Maldonado-Passage’s book deal 

13 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 
directed at the producers of Tiger King 2, dated February 25, 
2021, regarding releases from John Phillips, Francisco Hernandez, 
and Jeff Hoover to appear in Tiger King 2 
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14 Emails between Joseph Maldonado-Passage and Francisco 
Hernandez, dated May 27, 2021, regarding John Phillips’s 
representation of Jeff Lowe and potential conflicts 

15 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 
dated February 17, 2021, regarding John Phillips 

16 Emails between Joseph Maldonado-Passage and Francisco 
Hernandez, dated February 10, 2021, regarding John Phillips  

17 Emails between Joseph Maldonado-Passage and Francisco 
Hernandez, dated April 27, 2021, regarding money for Dillon 
Passage 

18 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 
dated January 7, 2021, regarding money for Dillon Passage 

19 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 
dated October 15, 2020, regarding money for Dillon Passage 

20 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 
dated October 15, 2020, regarding expenses for Dillon Passage 

21 Emails between Joseph Maldonado-Passage and Francisco 
Hernandez, dated February 27, 2021, regarding Joseph 
Maldonado-Passage instructing Francisco Hernandez to send 
money to “Donna” 

22 Copy of check from Jeff Hoover to Joseph Maldonado-Passage’s 
IOLTA, dated July 9, 2021, for the revolver  

23 Text messages between Francisco Hernandez and Dillon Passage 
regarding Jeff Hoover’s purchase of the revolver 

24 Text messages between Francisco Hernandez and Anne Patrick 
25 Text messages between Joseph Maldonado-Passage and Francisco 

Hernandez 
26 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 

dated August 12, 2021, regarding the revolver 
27 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 

dated August 25, 2021, regarding the Dodge Challenger purchased 
for Dillon Passage  

28 Emails between Joseph-Maldonado-Passage and Francisco 
Hernandez, dated August 4, 2020, regarding purchase of the 
Dodge Challenger for Dillon Passage 

29 Emails between Joseph Maldonado-Passage and Francisco 
Hernandez, dated November 2020, regarding Dillon Passage 
arrested for DWI  
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30 Letter from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Anne Patrick, dated 
September 30, 2021, regarding Francisco Hernandez’s purchase of 
the Dodge Challenger 

31 Email from Francisco Hernandez to Joseph Maldonado-Passage, 
dated January 5, 2021, regarding trip to Washington D.C. via 
donated private jet 

32 Copy of car title for Dodge Challenger in Dillon Passage’s name 
33 Copy of Application for Texas Title and/or Registration, dated 

October 2021, transferring the Dodge Challenger to Francisco 
Hernandez 

34 Letter from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez 
and Anne Patrick, dated October 13, 2021, regarding the Dodge 
Challenger 

35 List of expenses for Dodge Challenger paid for by Francisco 
Hernandez  

36 Copy of wire transfers from Joseph Maldonado-Passage’s IOLTA 
to Gulf Chrysler Dodge to purchase the Dodge Challenger for 
Dillon Passage 

37 Emails between Joseph Maldonado-Passage and Francisco 
Hernandez, dated July 20, 2020, regarding balance of IOLTA 

38 Copy of IOLTA summary of debits and credits 
39 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 

dated January 7, 2021, regarding money for Dillon Passage 
40 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 

dated January 6, 2021, regarding money for Dillon Passage 
41 Emails between Joseph Maldonado-Passage and Francisco 

Hernandez, dated October 14, 2020, regarding money for Dillon 
Passage 

42 Emails between Tamara Springer, Roland Johnson, John Phillips, 
and Caroline Cyrier, dated February 2022, regarding IOLTA 
balance and the Dodge Challenger 

43 Email from Joseph Maldonado-Passage to Francisco Hernandez, 
dated December 29, 2020, regarding Washington D.C. trip for 
rally 

44 Emails between Joseph Maldonado-Passage and Francisco 
Hernandez, dated July 2020, regarding other attorneys working on 
matters for Joseph Maldonado-Passage 
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45 Emails between Joseph Maldonado-Passage and Francisco 
Hernandez, dated July 27, 2020, regarding work performed by 
William Taylor for Joseph Maldonado-Passage 

46 Letter from Bradley S. Small, dated May 14, 2022 
 



  











ccyrier
Highlight

ccyrier
Highlight

ccyrier
Highlight

ccyrier
Highlight

ccyrier
Highlight



  



 

  

      

                      
                       

                    
                   

   



  



1 

My name is Anne Patrick and this is my statement in response to Joseph's complaint. 

So let's start with the beginning of his crock pot complaint. Francisco was hired in April 

2020, not March of 2020.  

 First, let’s be clear, I was not a “friend” as he states.  I was his Power of Attorney.  

Joseph specifically asked me to look for and hire an attorney during his 89-day lockdown 

in jail. 

Joseph sent me Eric Love’s name and told me to call him. Eric Love is the one 

who contacted Francisco, for me.  Francisco was the only one that I could find that would 

take the case without a huge retainer.  In fact, Francisco and Eric put together a team of 

volunteer lawyers and fans who wanted to help. 

Francisco even got Mike Ware and Allison Clayton, Founder and Executive 

Director of the Texas Innocence Project, respectively, to come on the team (in their 

individual capacities) and handle the Direct Appeal, the Presidential Pardon Application, 

a Rule 33 Motion for New Trial and a 2255 if necessary.   

However, Joseph insisted that Francisco bring Brandon Sample onto Team Tiger 

instead of following Francisco’s recommendation.  Brandon is a lawyer who served 

Federal Prison Time and was married to a man.  But, during the time for briefing 

Joseph’s appeal, Brandon had an affair with his 20 year old assistant, his husband 

divorced him and during this drama, Brandon went AWOL.  In the end, Brandon filed a 

brief with two sentencing issues.  He did not brief the issue of whether the Judge should 
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have severed the counts in a superseding indictment.  That issue was perfectly preserved 

by the Public Defenders and was never brought up by Brandon or even John Phillips, 

Joseph’s current attorney.  Francisco even wrote letter briefs for Joseph to send on the 

issue so it would not be automatically waived. 

 Brandon also asked Joseph to let him handle the Pardon Application because of his 

connections at the Office of Presidential Pardons.  Once Brandon went AWOL, Francisco 

and his team had to start from scratch. 

 To be clear, Francisco had the two leading lawyers for the Texas Innocence Project 

ready and committed to handle the Direct Appeal, the Pardon Application, Rule 33 

Motion for New Trial and even a 2255 Post Conviction Writ.  All three times, Joseph 

went against Francisco’s advice. 

 After the Direct Appeal Oral Argument, Joseph asked Francisco to bring John 

Phillips onto the team. This was the third time that Joseph declined Francisco’s advice to 

bring on Mike Ware and Allison Clayton.  

We now know that it was Rebecca Chalkin, an executive producer for the Netflix 

documentary “Tiger King,” that urged Joseph to bring on John Phillips because Francisco 

and all of the members of Team Tiger refused to participate in the filming and promotion 

of Tiger King 2.   

John Phillips later told Francisco that he had a contractual agreement with Goode 

Productions, the production company for Tiger King 1 and Tiger King 2, and was 
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obligated to cooperate with them. Francisco was concerned about the potential conflict of 

interest for John Phillips to also have a contractual agreement, in exchange for 

consideration, with the producers of Tiger King 2.    

 This is where the relationship went south.  John Phillips began poisoning Joseph 

telling him that Team Tiger had spent all of his money and were only pursuing fame. 

Francisco never took it upon himself to rent a giant bus, private jet, or anything 

else. Eric Love did that. Plus, use of the bus and jet were donated by friends. All this was 

done because Joseph told me, as his power of attorney, to keep him front and center in 

the media. I was to make sure that he stayed in the news at all times after Tiger King 1 so 

he could make money and get a pardon from Donald Trump the President at the time. 

Francisco and I continually told Joseph that we were not participating in Tiger King 2. 

Joseph, at his insistence, kept speaking to Rebecca Chaklin and Eric Goode, the 

producers of Tiger King 1 and Tiger King 2, making sure they showed up everywhere 

Francisco was, at Joseph’s insistence.  

At no time did any of us want to deal with Goode Productions or participate in 

Tiger King 2. We were doing as Joseph Maldonado-Passage insisted we do with big 

limos and jet stuff. Again, this was all at Joseph’s insistence, and cost him nothing. Not 

one penny did Joseph spend on any of this. This all came out of the pockets of Eric Love, 

Francisco Hernandez, and anybody else who was putting in money and volunteering.  
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As far as this signing contracts,  Joseph says then Francisco and his friend Eric 

Love signed contracts with Joseph’s ex-husband Dillon Passage. Francisco has never in 

any way shape or form signed any contracts for product deals, book deals, hidden money, 

any of this stuff. Every single penny was approved through me, Anne Patrick, which also 

was approved through Joseph; including the birthday present of the $33,000 car that 

Joseph insisted I approve for Dillon’s 25th birthday. Francisco never loaned Dillon 

$13,000, and Dillon had no participation in any product deals. I have no idea what Joseph 

is talking about. Dillon had no participation in any deals whatsoever. Neither did 

Francisco Hernandez. Neither did Anne Patrick. Not one of us received one penny from 

any deals Joseph had. Every single penny went to Joseph 

The car, the $33,000 Dodge Challenger that Joseph is referring to was a birthday 

present to Dillon. Later when they were trying to get divorced, Dillon's only request was 

that he got the Challenger, which was his birthday present. So Joseph took the lien off so 

that he could have the car in the divorce. But then Joseph kept changing his mind and 

saying no, he wasn’t going to sign the divorce papers. 

Francisco never bought the car for $15,000. With my approval as power of 

attorney for Joseph, Francisco loaned $15,000 to Dillon Passage, saying that if Dillon did 

not pay back the $15,000 by December 31, 2021 that Francisco was to keep the car. 

Dillon did not want the car. He wanted to be away from Joseph and didn't want to have 

anything to do with Joseph anymore.  
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Francisco Hernandez wrapped that Challenger after he got it from Dillon Passage. 

Joseph told myself, Anne Patrick, and Francisco Hernandez, that we had to, "play nice" 

with John Phillips, his new attorney. Since John Phillips was being paid through the 

profits from Joseph's book, the car was wrapped as a promotion to help promote the book 

and get more money out of it. Because again, Joseph told us to play nice, and that was 

what we were all trying to do, So, Francisco Hernandez never benefited one penny, from 

wrapping of that car. Again, I don't know where Joseph Maldonado-Passage was getting 

all of this nonsense. 

As far as the custom gun and holster, those were already sold at one point for $700 

to a guy named Mike from the Tiger King truck stop. Mike has passed away since then. 

Dillon never got a chance to drop off the gun to Mike, but Joseph received $700 for the 

gun. The gun belonged to Dillon as it was in Dillon's possession. Dillon was giving the 

gun to Jeff Hoover as a gift for all the help and work that he did for Joseph. Dillon 

needed rent money, so Jeff gave him $1,500 to pay his rent, out of the goodness of his 

heart. Dillon was giving him the gun that belong to Dillon because Joseph had already 

sold it and got the $700. It was never worth $25,000, I have no idea where Joseph's 

getting that number. We could not even get one bid on it when we previously put it up for 

auction on the NFT. Zero bids on the NFT for the gun. So where he's getting $25,000, 

again is an imaginary number that he's making up.  
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Regarding the money in the IOLTA, there was not $10,000 remaining. In fact, 

there was barely enough money. Joseph was supporting a new boyfriend names Seth, 

sending him rent and car money, sending Tamara Springer money, and sending thousands 

of dollars at a time to John Graham, another prisoner who Joseph had a relationship with. 

So there was not money in the account. Joseph got every penny of the money and 

actually, more money, than was in the account.  

As far as Francisco producing bills, and this nasty allegation about cooking the 

books, we have every single penny accounted for. I have every email, every voice 

recording, every screenshot of every penny that was sent to Joseph, sent to people for 

Joseph that Joseph approved. 

Joseph Maldonado-Passage approved every single transaction of funds. And I 

made sure that he wrote it all in emails and messages. And Francisco Hernandez never 

paid anyone without my approval, through text message or email. Again, my name is 

Anne Patrick, I was at the time Power of Attorney for Joseph Maldonado Passage. 

Francisco Hernandez never did business with Joseph's ex-husband, Dillon Passage. If 

Dillon sold, Joseph Maldonado-Passage’s belongings, that had nothing to do with 

Francisco Hernandez, that is between Joseph Maldonado and Dillon Passage. Regarding 

the lien on the Challenger, Francisco was to take the lien off, so that Dillon would give 

Joseph a divorce because Joseph was already in a relationship with another inmate. The 
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From: Roland Johnson
To: Tamara Springer
Cc: jmp@floridajustice.com; Caroline Cyrier
Subject: RE: Joseph Maldonado
Date: Tuesday, February 8, 2022 2:06:47 PM

Tami:
 
I am not able to communicate with you because Mr. Maldonado is represented by an attorney.
Please direct all of your communications to Mr. Phillips.
 
Roland
 
 

Roland K. Johnson​

Attorney at Law
777 Main Street, Suite 1800
Fort Worth, Texas  76102
817-870-8765 (direct)  

817-333-1199 (fax)  

rolandjohnson@hfblaw.com 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:  Unless otherwise indicated or obvious from the nature of this transmittal, the
information contained in this message is privileged and confidential, intended for the use of the intended recipient
named above.  If the reader of this message is not the intended recipient (or the employee or agent responsible to
deliver it to the intended recipient), you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution, or copying of this
communication is prohibited.  If you have received this communication in error, please reply to the sender that
you have received this message in error and delete this message.
 
 
 

From: Tamara Springer <tchapman@nd.edu> 
Sent: Sunday, February 6, 2022 12:55 PM
To: Roland Johnson <Rolandjohnson@hfblaw.com>
Subject: Joseph Maldonado
 

Mr. Johnson,
 
I am writing to you on behalf of Joseph Maldonado, as his
power-of-attorney. He wants to know the status of the $9,000
in his trust fund that Fran has not yet turned over to me, and
also the $33,000 lien on his car. Fran would not allow me to



pick up the car, even though Joe signed a lien on it. Thank you
for your attention to this matter.
 
Tami Springer
Executive Assistant and Power of Attorney to Joe Exotic
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Brad Small, Esq. 
Fox Rothschild LLP 
10250 Constellation Blvd. 
Suite 900 
Los Angeles, CA 90067 

  
BRADLEY S. SMALL 
Direct Dial: (310) 871-0225 
E-mail: bsmall@foxrothschild.com 

  

May14, 2022

OFFICE OF THE CHIEF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL
STATE BAR OF TEXAS
Attn: Brenda Lopez (Brenda.Lopez@Texasbar.com)

Re: Case No. 202202193 - Notice of Grievance by Joseph Allen Maldonado - Passage / Francisco 
Hernandez

To whom it may concern:
I’m a partner in the Los Angeles office of the national law firm Fox Rothschild LLP.  
I was engaged by Joseph Maldonado-Passage (“Client”) to work with Client as entertainment 
counsel, and and watch over, negotiate, and review intellectual property and entertainment 
property opportunities commencing early-September, 2020.
My law firm and me terminated our representation of Client by letter in early-February, 2022.
Initially, I was hired while at my prior law firm to handle all of the entertainment and licensing 
property transactions for Client.  In my experience, we must have negotiated 20 or so contracts 
licensing his name and likeness in the costume, gaming, cannabis, book, and television spaces. 
Some produced income and some did not.
Mr. Francisco Hernandez predated my representation was local counsel in Texas and handled 
many matters for Client, primarily pardon related, but did not make any entertainment/licensing 
deals, nor did he take any monies from Client as payment.

In my experience, Client never looked inward, but always looked outward, and blamed others for 
all circumstances.  The most salient unethical and wrongful act I saw Client do was in not paying 
the ghostwriter of his book when Client had the money to do so and simply wanted to keep the 
money for himself - the collaborator/ghostwriter Tom Flannery was and is owed $20,000.

After I finished a cryptocurrency deal in which coin makers developed a Tiger King coin (TKING), 
Client used another attorney to force the coin developers, demand them, for $250,000 with threats 



of bad publicity and other threats, to pay that money in cash or in other consideration.  Although 
our our law firm is and was due 15% ($37,500 in this deal) from deals we negotiated for Client, we 
were not paid or compensated our legal fee whatsoever in that transaction.

Over the course of several years, I found in working and then observing Mr. Hernandez that he 
was always professional, ethical, and I have nothing but positive things to say about him and his 
law firm.

My review of the grievance filed by Mr. Maldonado-Passage is that it is without merit.

Please feel free to contact me with any questions..

Very best,

Brad
BRADLEY SMALL ESQ.
FOX ROTHSCHILD LLP
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